
 
BEAULIEU PARISH COUNCIL 

MINUTES OF MEETING ON THURSDAY 21
ST

 JULY 2016 

AT  BEAULIEU VILLAGE HALL 

 

PRESENT 

Cllr. F. Norris (Chairman), Cllr. P. Fairweather (Vice Chairman),  Cllr. S. Steele, 

Cllr. M. Grindrod, Cllr. S. Gibbs 

APOLOGIES 

Cllr. C. Knight, Cllr. L. Shanks, Cllr. K. Thornber 

IN ATTENDANCE 

Cllr. M. Harris, Mrs. R. Pearson, Mrs. N. Deering (Clerk) 

1271. MINUTES OF LAST MEETING 

 Proposed:     Cllr. Grindrod          Seconded:  Cllr. Steele 

1272. MATTERS ARISING 

1270. Cllr. Norris said 2 people had said how nice the Twinning Garden was looking, so 

everyone’s efforts have paid off.  Cllr. Steele said the new arrangement with Mark 

is working well and he is on top of the work.  Said may need to order more 

chippings.  Mentioned that Mark uses her hedge cutter and leaf blower and 

wonders if the  PC might purchase some equipment for him or ask the CGT.  Cllr. 

Fairweather and Cllr. Gibbs feel it is not right that he uses Cllr. Steele’s 

equipment.  Cllr. Gibbs said if it was ours we would need to put on the risk 

register and do risk assessment and it would have to be serviced.  Cllr. Steele said 

the playground astroturf is difficult to keep clean and needs a blower or sucker.   

 Cllr. Norris thanked Mrs. Pearson for doing the path through High Street, Curtle  

 Meadow and Fire Station Lane etc and thanked Carl for doing the flags for the 

 Queens celebrations.   

 Cllr. Steele said she has booked a defib training session for Mondady 31
st
 October 

 at 1.30 – 2.30p.m. in the village hall and trainer booked.  School have 8/9 staff to  

 attend and can take 20 places on a session so have 10/12 left.  Said a bit early to  

 start canvasing people, but Cllr. Harris and the Vicar would like to attend and  

 Cllr. Fairweather may have some staff.  Said the person who runs the square  

 dancing was interested.  Mrs. Pearson said she has two new staff if we have  

 places.  Cllr. Steele said they now have a defib at Gins, which is good as the game 

 keepers were asking.  Maybe in the future we could look at having one at  

 Bucklers Hard.  Cllr. Norris said it is within our parish. 

1261. Cllr. Fairweather asked about broadband and said it should be on the agenda  

 every month.  Mentioned the email from Sam Sutton, NF Activities saying he has 

 contacted the Verderers direct.  Mrs. Pearson said she would like to pick up on  

 this as the Estate is being blamed.  Said she met the BT man and tried to help.  He 

 said Hatchett Cottage was too far and needs to be 50 feet away from the box, so  

 land nearer the triangle is needed.  Mrs. Pearson said if you can get it on Estate  

land  we will find a space.  Said the Estate has offered Cllr. Thornber land 

 in mitigation, but Verderers will not accept.  Cllr. Harris said he read the press 

 articles and has written to the Verderers, had an hour long conversation with  



 them, said they are keen to help and will meet me at the NF Show. They are not 

just looking for land in mitigation.  Said he has also spoken to Mel 

 Kendall, who is in charge of this.  There are 4 boxes which they are struggling 

 with.  Cllr. Norris said the unfortunate thing for us is BT are hived off.  

Said he understands there is fibre optic cable coming out of the telephone 

exchange coming up the High Street, but we are having to wait because of these 

disagreements going on i.e East Boldre, which is nothing to do with us, so BT are 

not going to do it until that is resolved, so they have gone off elsewhere.  Mrs. 

Pearson thinks the cable is coming down the High Street, but Cllr. Norris said the 

telephone exchange is in Dock Lane.  Mrs. Pearson said that is the problem with  

Dock Lane, it is coming from Hatchet Pond.  Cllr. Norris asked if it is coming 

from the Lymington exchange, Mrs. Pearson presumes it is, as not coming from  

Dock Lane and that is why Dock Lane is not good.   Cllr. Norris said Sue 

Westwood was saying about boxes in the High Street and that was the last we  

heard.  Cllr. Norris said everyone is passing the parcel around and it is a 

nightmare for the whole of the forest, but the Verderers will not accept and they 

are ducking and saying it is not us.  Cllr. Gibbs asked if anyone has arranged to 

get all senior stakeholders in one room and sort it out.  Mrs. Pearson said two men 

from BT , Verderers and Estate tried to sort this.  Said sorted one at Bucklers 

Hard.  Cllr. Gibbs said has anyone recently meet.  Cllr. Norris said so many of us 

have been to meetings and are fatigued now.  Said been to many meetings and 

been told it is only weeks away.  Cllr. Gibbs asked if any actions were taken.  

Cllr. Norris said it is just like punching cotton wool.  Cllr. Gibbs asked, no next 

steps, no action?    Cllr. Norris said there are promises and other people going to 

meet with other people, and we are still no further on.  Cllr. Gibbs said there are 

only 3 people who have a real say in this – the Verderers, CC who manage it and 

DC.  Cllr. Norris said also NE and FC.  Cllr. Harris said everyone is blaming 

everyone else and said the next problem will be money and the County will look 

at it on a cost effective basis.  Said EB have 30/50 houses and divid that and it is 

too much money compared to Beaulieu and Brockenhurst.  Cllr. Norris that it is 

interesting that certain districts of London have the same broadband speed as we 

do here and some parts are less.  Cllr. Gibbs asked what is the next step?  Cllr. 

Fairweather said what concerns him is people living in the parish going straight to 

the Verderers, who are passing the problem onto the Estate – feels as a PC we 

should have some responsibility for communicating on their behalf.  Problem is 

who do we get proper answers from.  We have tried through Cllr. Thornber.  Cllr. 

Steele said Cllr. Thornber said he was going to take it to a higher level.  Cllr. 

Norris said Cllr. Thornber was having a meeting with Mel Kendall, who is HCC 

communications and also having a meeting with Dr. Julian Lewis.  Cllr. Harris 

said having read the article in the press, he doesn’t want to tread of Cllr. 

Thornber’s patch, but really felt had to do something, so now trying to open up 

communications with Dominic May and other county councilors who have some 

input and trying to move forward, gently and quietly.  Cllr. Norris said over the 

last 2 ½ years been involved with this, starting with meeting the Cabinet Minister 

in Winchester, we keep having these meetings and everything is going to be 

sorted, only a matter of weeks away and it never happens and gets put back.  2 



years ago told we were going to have high speed broadband in April.  Nothing 

happened.  Cllr. Gibbs said as a PC we should write to all the stakeholders and 

invite them to a meeting.  Cllr. Norris said, if you call a meeting, I hope you get 

better results than I did.  Cllr. Gibbs said he will try and organise this with Cllr. 

Harris’ help.  Said BT will not take ownership until it is all sorted with NE and 

the Verderers.  Cllr. Norris asked Cllr. Gibbs to keep Cllr. Thornber fully 

informed of all matters.  Cllr. Fairweather said as a PC we need to own this with 

Cllr. Thornber’s help and not have parishioner’s running off and contacting 

stakeholders direct.  Cllr. Norris felt the more people who interact with the 

stakeholders the better.  Cllr. Fairweather asked Mrs. Pearson for a response from 

the Estate.  Mrs. Pearson replied that the Estate is very happy  to have boxes on 

their land and have done the one at Bucklers Hard, but it is not connected.  Cllr. 

Harris said the one at Norley Wood has been in place for two years and not 

connected.  Cllr. Norris said it was all very unsatisfactory.   

1270. Cllr. Norris asked if anyone had heard any news on the Post Office.  Nobody had. 

1273. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 None 

1274. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 None 

1275.   POLICE LIAISON 

 PC Eastwood not present. 

1276. HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S REPRESENTATIVES REPORT 

 Cllr. Norris said we have apologies from Cllr. Thornber and said he was sorry he 

 was not here as could have taken the car parking issues further and tonight would  

 have been a good time.   

1277. NEW FOREST DISTRICT COUNCILS REPRESENTATIVES REPORT 

 Cllr. Harris reported that he has spoken to Rosemary Ruttins re the polling station. 

 She is now on leave, but will brief her stand-in and report back.  Said he felt the  

 first car parking meeting was very good and feels making progress.  Will chase  

 those responsible for the markings in the car park.  Talked about the housing plan 

 and the need to agree a plan and trying to get the numbers down.  Said the  

 consultation will be very important.  Cllr. Norris said am I right in thinking the 

 proposals are all outside the NP area for housing and lots for the Waterside?   

 Cllr. Harris said yes.  Cllr. Norris said, but no building permitted in the forest?   

 Cllr. Harris said the NP are coming up with their plan in October, and under  

 pressure to try and find places.  Originally 12-14,000 outside.  Asked if we could   

 respond to consultation.  

1278. PLANNING 

 16/00507 – Beaulieu Settled Estate – Site of Hazelcopse Farm 

 Increase in hard standing area and change of use of Piggery to shower and WC  

 block.  

Cllr. Norris said this is the conversion of  a farm building to shower/WC block, 

said they are using locally sourced materials, and doing what the government 

wants and utilizing a redundant farm building.  Said several councilors have been 

on site visits.  Said nothing has altered on the outside of the building.  Cllr. Norris 

 asked Mrs. Pearson if taking the site out of the conservation area at the CET was 



 part of the plan and put it in a non conservation area.  Said the site been created 

 and has a 60 day usage granted by NE and feels this is a done deal, and only  

 reinstates something that was there already and using a redundant building.  Said 

 what I am concerned about from a PC point of view is that NE seem to be able to 

 go in without reference to any local people and make a decision.  Its like a  

 permitted development that they can do.  Said if we decide to agree with this 

 application because the application itself is just for gravel and WC.  I think we  

 need to point out to the NP that there has been no consultation with the PC and 

 NE seem to be able to do this without a bye or leave.  Mrs. Pearson said NE is  

 not site specific.  Cllr. Norris said Cllr. Knight is concerned, as returning from the    

 Turfcutters at a late hour on Saturday night, found 6-7 people walking in Hatchett  

 Lane.  They said they had been to the pub and were walking back to Embers camp 

 site.  Said he was concerned as felt it was rather dangerous walking in the lane at  

 that time of the night, where there is no footpath or pavements and shouldn’t  

 something be done if the site is to continue, i.e a footpath that takes people off the 

 road. Cllr. Norris said maybe something for our September meeting.  Cllr. Steele  

 said feelings are running high with noise issues and it would be a good idea to  

 mention in our reply to NP that there is a restriction for only 60 days use, as  

 people do not have confidence that Embers will stick to this.  Mrs. Pearson said  

 they will be hard pushed to get to 60 days.  Mrs. Pearson said in reality they could 

 not put temporary showers/wc’s and porta cabins in the middle of the field, as  

 cost of running water there would be too expensive and would not look good , so  

 they used a redundant building and that is why it was done.  Said the Estate are 

 watching it over the summer and had a meeting with Embers two weeks ago as 

 we were concerned.  Since then they have increased their staffing and have two  

 people managing the site.  They have put up a volley ball net to try and keep them 

 occupied and there is meant to be a curfew of 11p.m, so monitoring that.  Said has 

 made it clear to them that the Estate are monitoring it all, and not happy if it is  

 causing issues.  Said this application is separate to the operation there.  Cllr.  

 Norris said we do understand that.  Cllr. Norris asked if councilors would like to  

 vote and said to Cllr. Gibbs that he had not actually declared an interest, which he 

 then did.  Cllr. Norris said we will have no objections to the work already  

 undertaken to the Piggery, car park extension, but do point out areas of concern to 

 us.  The PC not being notified of this and there is a danger that people can come 

 into our parish and do things without any consultation at all.  So why are we here? 

 We do have a lawful right to comment on things, whether anyone takes notice is 

 another matter.  Said the PC were surprised to be alerted by concerned local  

 residents of the relocation of Embers campsite at Hazelcopse and permission 

 granted by NE.   

1279. DECISONS 

 None 

1280. CCTV 

 Cllr. Fairweather reported that an application to NP has been made and been 

 asked to submit additional information, which he did and now need more  

 information. They are now insisting on a Heritage statement and  



method of work, which can be obtained from the Montagu Arms.  Reported that 

he is working through all this.  Cllr. Norris thanked Cllr. Fairweather for all his 

work on this project and said he had received a request for images as a van had 

been damaged.  Said we will have to decide how to deal with such requests and if 

there will be a charge.  We need clarification on what and who sees the images.   

 Received email from Peter Wales, Brockenhurst PC, who are considering  

 installing CCTV and asked why did we feel it was necessary. Will reply ‘we  

 have had a murder in our parish’.  Mr. Wales thought there was a need for the  

 Commissioner’s approval.  Cllr. Norris assumed by Commissioner he means 

 Michael Lane the Police Commissioner in Winchester.  His response was that you 

 do not need approval and you only need to bother with the NP and best of luck 

 with them.   

1282. PARKING WORKING GROUP REPORT 

 Cllr. Norris said we had a very useful meeting about 2 weeks ago and you have 

 all received the minutes.  Said Mrs. Pearson had to leave early, but a positive 

 contribution.  Said Angie Lewis came in place of Ann Marcer and had good ideas, 

 which we need to take forward with Cllr. Thornber.  Cllr. Steele said the new car 

 park area will only work if people made to use it. This will free the High Street  

a bit, have timed 2 hour bays and some residents parking, but need Cllr. 

Thornber’s help now.  Cllr. Gibbs said Mrs.  Pearson’s idea of a notice was a 

good idea.  Mrs. Pearson said it was in the process of being done and Lord 

Montagu happy with this.  Cllr. Fairweather said he is not happy as will displace 

cars to the garden centre.  Cllr. Norris said we all need to talk and discuss ideas.  

Cllr. Fairweather said he did not mind this on a trial basis, but was slightly 

concerned about Patrick’s Patch and the safety of turning out of it and said he 

cannot force his staff to use it.  Said on Sunday he had a message from his 

secretary to say a lady and her 3 year old daughter were locked in the car park and 

had to go and unlock the gate.  Apparently they were having tea in the High 

Street.  Cllr. Steele suggested putting a notice up in his car park saying that 

people should not leave the premises.  Cllr. Gibbs asked about the likelihood of 

having Haywards Meadow.  Mrs. Pearson replied that it was highly likely if we 

get planning and is reasonable.  Said if she has the full support of the PC they will 

have a stronger chance.  Said they now have to put drawings together, get costings 

from Bill and find a potential funder.  Cllr. Fairweather said he was concerned 

about drainage, as it gets 6” underwater in heavy rain.  Mrs. Pearson confirmed 

the Estate are trying to help resolve the matter of parking.  Cllr. Steele said we 

have no alternative and Mrs. Pearson agreed.  Cllr. Norris said Steve Green has 

drawn up a plan with 7 standard size parking bays on the grass beyond the fence 

at end of car park for users of the hall.  Would need to take  out the tree, which 

would have to be replaced.  Also mentioned piece of ground in Fire Station Lane.  

Mrs. Pearson thinks this is the water treatment plant land owned by Southern 

Water.   

1283. CORRESPONDENCE 

 Cllr. Norris said he had correspondence from Ian Bowman, Beaulieu Cricket  

 Club.  They would like to relevel the pitch as they have gone up a league and the 

 present pitch if not good enough and car park not up to standard.  The cost is  



 £9,000, they have £3,000.  Said PC have been very supportive over the last 2 

 years and feels the village hall and CCTV need our support, so not terribly 

 keen on making a big gesture.  Glad they are successful, but feels now it the 

 turn of parents and members to raise funds.  Cllr. Steele suggested a lottery grant 

 but Cllrs. Norris and Gibbs feel they already had one.  Cllr. Harris said they have 

 applied to him.  Cllr. Norris suggested they write a letter and we will put on the 

 website. 

 Appletree Careline – Cllr. Harris said he wants to help fund this. 

 Letter from Beaulieu Estate to say the life-line we purchased is too orange in   

 colour, so going to site that one at Baileys Hard and refund our money.   

 Propose to accept Estate’s offer: Proposed: Cllr. Grindrod, Seconded: Cllr. Steele 

 General 

 Lloyds Bank – Balance 28
th

 June 2016 - £16,683.13 

 Hags Play Equipment 

 NFDC – Year Book 2016 – 17 

 Victim Care – grant aid request 

1284. CHEQUE SIGNING 

 BVHT - £36 

 Playsafety Ltd - £79.80 (playground inspection) 

 C. Fairweather - £22.80 (map for planning app) 

 Clerks Salary - £761.50 

 C. Fairweather - £78.96 – (plants) 

 E. Young - £90.00  

 Proposed:    Cllr. Steele          Seconded:  Cllr. Grindrod 

1285. QUESTION TIME 

 Cllr. Grindrod asked if it was possible to have a sign for cyclists – one way  

 upwards in High Street.  Cllr. Norris said we need to ask Cllr. Thornber. 

 Cllr. Norris said if Post Office closes does our only cash machine go? Proposed  

 not to have a meeting in August, only car parking meeting. 

  

  

 Meeting closed at 7.58p.m. 

 

Date of Next Meeting –  Thursday 15
th

 September 2016 at 6.30p.m. in the Main 

Hall of the Village Hall. 

 

  

  


